No: 69807-9-I

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JEFF KIRBY and PUGET SOUND SECURITY PATROL, INC.

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY,

Respondent.

### AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROCKE | LAW GROUP, PLLC Aaron V. Rocke, WSBA #31525 101 Yesler Way, Suite 603 Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 652-8670



### **

#### I. Identity of Petitioners

Puget Sound Security Patrol, Inc. is the interested employer in this unemployment benefits claim. Mr. Kirby is its sole stockholder.

#### II. Court of Appeals Decision

The Court of Appeals issued a published decision No. 69807-9-I on March 20, 2014, and it rejected reconsideration on April 7, 2014. Petitioners seek review.

#### III. Issues Presented for Review

- 1. Under RCW § 50.04.294(2)(a), does the court of appeals properly find for the first time that a security company's four instructions to its employee to write a report were unreasonable when:
  - the instruction was found to be reasonable from the employer's perspective,
  - the job of a security guard is to observe and report,
  - security guards' state license requires training on report writing,
  - the employer had a business need for the written report and an absent business record of it ever being made, yet
  - there may have been better ways of accomplishing the task?
- 2. When an employee is fired for insubordination and the employer proves the instruction was reasonable from its perspective, must the employer additionally prove either that the instruction was objectively the best way to pursue its interest or reasonable from the perspective of the employee, or should we follow the common law and require the employee to prove justification for refusing the employer's direction?
- Given that an employee refuses a reasonable, work-related instruction from her employer and that her subjective intent to harm the employer is irrelevant to proving insubordination, must the employer prove something

extra, such as whether the employee was aware of how rejecting the employer's instruction specifically harms the employer?

٠.

- 4. Because insubordination is in the same sub-section of RCW § 50.04.294 as other statutory examples of willful and wanton behavior, does the published decision change the law of misconduct to require proof that the employee knew how she was hurting the employer's interests on those other grounds?
- 5. If an employee thinks providing truthful information to her employer would get her fired, does she act in good faith by repeatedly refusing her employer's demands to provide the information?

#### IV. Statement of the Case

#### A. By not finding insubordination, the decision changes Washington law.

Security guard Dorothy Thomas alleged serious security concerns and criminal behavior by her client. When she was not satisfied with the results of apparently following company policy, she took matters into her own hands. She violated company policy by using impermissible channels of communication with the client. Next, the client blindsided her employer's upper management about the allegations.

Thomas knew the importance of report writing in the security industry. Security guards cannot get their license without training on its importance. *See* WAC 308-18-300, 305. Thomas's employer asked her to write down what happened and what she orally told the client. Thomas did not ask for clarity or say that it was impossible. *See* CR 103. She shot back that she already wrote what happened. Management repeated the order to write a report and to come to headquarters in two days to discuss it. Slip Opinion at 6 ¶12. That phone call was on June 8th.

On June 9th, Thomas made no attempt to review or copy logs or incident reports, and she made no attempt to get clarity from the employer; instead she signaled an intention to have a migraine headache on the 10th. *See* CR 278 (FF 16).

On June 10th, Thomas came to headquarters (45 minutes late and without a headache) expecting to change the employer's mind about writing a report. She intended to make management reconsider forcing her to write it.

When Thomas came without the report, a human resources assistant told Thomas again to write it. Thomas refused this second time and stated her motivation. The evidence on Thomas's motivation is overwhelming, unmistakable, and a finding of fact: Thomas withheld information because she thought providing it would be used as proof that she should be fired.

Next, the CEO introduced himself to Thomas, explained the situation, and asked her to write a report. Slip Opinion ¶14. The CEO told her that he needed an incident report so the company could investigate. *Id.*; CR 127. She refused a third time. Slip Opinion at ¶14. The CEO repeated his instruction. She refused a fourth time. *Id.* She was sent home with pay and told to return in a few days for her disciplinary hearing. She came to the disciplinary hearing a few days later still without a written report. *Id.* at ¶15; CR 122. She was given an opportunity to explain or justify her refusal to write the report. CR 85. She remained silent. *Id.* The employer finally terminated her for insubordination. *Id.* This was the eighth day since the first time she was asked to write it. *Id.* Thomas refused four orders from three levels of management on two different days to write one report. She was fired for insubordination.

The appellate court held in a published decision that her refusal was more appropriately characterized as a good faith error in judgment and that the employer's instructions were not reasonable. It denied reconsideration.

If unchanged, the intermediate appellate decision will be cited as holding or supporting four things contrary to Washington law: (1) an employer fails to prove its instruction is reasonable, even if the order was reasonable from its perspective at the time and furthers a legitimate business interest, unless it also proves either there were no better ways of accomplishing the task or it was also reasonable from the employee's perspective; (2) although the statute says that purposeful insubordination is an example of willful or wanton disregard of an employer's interest and intent to harm is not necessary, an employer must nevertheless prove that the employee knew something extra about how her failure to follow the employer's instructions specifically harms the employer; (3) because insubordination is in the same sub-section as other examples of willful and wanton behavior, the published decision also changes the law of misconduct to require this extra knowledge on those grounds; and (4) that an employee acts in good faith when she violates her duty of loyalty by purposefully refusing to provide information that she thinks is proof that she should be fired.

# B. The appellate decision accidentally made a new finding that the employer's instruction was unreasonable.

In the beginning, the Employment Security Department denied benefits because the claimant was insubordinate. Slip Opinion at 9 ¶17. The claimant appealed, and an administrative law judge found for the claimant. *Id.* at ¶18. The Employment Security Commissioner remanded the matter for a *de novo* hearing to decide specifically "whether the employer's instruction to claimant to" write an incident report "was reasonable." *Id.* at ¶19. A new hearing was held. *Id.* at ¶20. Following that second hearing, the ALJ found that the instruction was reasonable from the perspective of the employer, unreasonable from the perspective of the employee, and made no express finding on its objective reasonableness. CR 274-283 (Initial Order).

The job of a security guard is to observe and report. Incident reports go to the employer's headquarters. Because headquarters had no incident report and had reason to think one never existed, it reasonably instructed Thomas to produce an incident report. The instruction was to produce one; she was not instructed that she could not copy or rely upon a previously written report or logs and she did not ask for them. In response to this instruction, Thomas did not ask for clarification; she said she would do it, but later refused to follow through.

Thomas denied being asked to write it before coming to the office. CR 155. The tribunal rejected Thomas's testimony and found that she was first asked to write the report by phone on June 8th, then again in person on June 10th. *See* CR 278 (FF 15), 280 (FF 22); Slip Opinion at 6 ¶12.

The department argued, and the Court of Appeals found, "The ALJ found the Employer's request to write an incident report was not reasonable in light of the information known to Ms. Thomas and Ms. Thomas's actions were not a willful disregard of her Employer's interests." Resp. Brief at 8. The department cited four sources: CR 278; FF 16; CL 8, 9." CR 278 is the page of the Initial Order that includes FF 16, so those two are actually the same source. The other two citations were also in the Initial Order. Neither the Initial Order generally, nor the referenced finding and conclusions specifically, explicitly state that the order was unreasonable. The citation was improper and erroneously adopted by the decision.

The department also wrote a section heading called "Substantial Evidence Supports the Commissioner's Finding that the Employer's Request Was Not Reasonable," *id.* at 23, and the published appellate decision echoed that "the commissioner found that the employer's instructions were not reasonable." Slip Opinion at ¶1. The appellate court affirmed because those "findings were supported by substantial evidence[.]" *Id.* However, there was no such finding. The

error was brought to the appellate court's attention on reconsideration, but reconsideration was denied.

#### C. The employer's instruction was reasonable and work-related.

Thomas says she documented incident reports, yet she also admitted to speaking with the client's 800 number. *See* Slip Opinion at 5; CR 277-78 (FF 13-14); CR 98; *cf.* FF 9 (implying, but not finding, specific incident report was written). This number was a hotline for the client's employees, not security guards. CR 109-10, 185. Post orders for guards had six contact points; none were the 800 number. CR 110-11. Thomas was not authorized to make this kind of client contact. CR 277 FF 13); CR 98. She even told the client's 800 number operator that she feared being fired for making the call. FF 10. The employer's rule prohibiting this contact ensures that headquarters knows about incidents and has control over when and how information is passed to the client and to whom that information is conveyed. It also allows the security company to come up with solutions to real problems and screen out unsubstantiated complaints. The client had complained that Thomas kept bringing unsubstantiated complaints. FF 14; CR 124-26.

Thomas testified that she wrote a specific incident report, and saw her supervisor fax it to operations manager Squire at her employer headquarters. CR 152. ("I'm sure of it. Yeah.") However, the ALJ rejected Thomas's testimony and adopted the employer's testimony as credible that Squire did not have these incident reports. CR 278 (FOF 16); *see also* CR 95-96. The absence of a business record was reason to think the report was never written. The employer's instruction to produce an incident report, whether by getting or relying on old ones or by writing a new one, on two days' notice was reasonable.

Regardless of what Thomas put in the logs (which do not go to the employer's headquarters), regardless of what she may or may not have put in the incident

reports, the employer also needed to know what Thomas said to the client through the 800 number. *See* CR 125. Thomas was sharing information orally with someone at the client's 800 number, CR 125, who apparently told her that she could not be fired for calling. CR 142. "Rather than keeping that information confidential," the CEO testified, Thomas shared that information with other security officers and temporary employees who "blindsided" client management. CR 125.

The incident Thomas was asked to write about was her phone call to the client's corporate headquarters. CR 104. Although Thomas admits to making the call, she refused to document what she said. The employer needed to know both what Thomas observed on the jobsite and what she orally told the client. In the absence of the incident report being on file at headquarters, the best way to get that information was to ask Thomas for it. The daily logs kept by the client are saved for what may be as little as thirty days. CR 94. So, there might not be logs to rely on. These facts support the finding of fact that the instruction was reasonable from the employer's perspective.

#### D. The Information Gap

The ALJ found an information gap between what Thomas knew and what the employer knew, and found "Thomas's failure to give more of an explanation" was an error in judgment. The ALJ wrote these as conclusions of law, not findings of fact. The employer challenged these conclusions. Opening Brief pg. 27. The appellate court adopted these as findings without scrutiny, and found the information gap implicitly material and not Thomas's fault.

The parties' version of the events is irreconcilable. For instance, "Thomas was expecting that she would be meeting first with Squire about the report but never had the opportunity to do so before being asked to write it." Slip Opinion pg. 7 ¶13; CR 280 (FF 22 Thomas "expected and wanted to talk further with

Mr. Squire"). The confusion in the record is because Thomas both admitted to Squire asking her to write the report directly, yet insisted that this was in person at the meeting. CR 147-48. However, elsewhere she testified that Squire would not come out and talk to her before requiring her to write the report. CR 159. Yet, the tribunal found the employer's three witnesses more credible. *See* CR 280 (FF22). Squire was not present on June 10th, so Thomas's testimony could not be accurate. The tribunal found and appellate court correctly wrote that Thomas was first asked to write it on June 8th. She didn't do it.

# E. Thomas refused to write the report because she thought it would get her fired.

The tribunal found as fact that Thomas would not write it because it would be used against her. CR 279 (FF 21); see also Slip Opinion 7 ¶13; CR 149. She thought admitting what she said would be admitting violating company policy, so she thought refusing the order was safer. See CR 278-79; FF 16, 21. This is the same reason she put in her ESD discharge questionnaire. In answer to the question about why she was fired, Thomas handwrote: "I guess not filling out an incident report upon request," and "After all I had been through I was scared it was going to be used against me." CR 223. Because, as she says, she has already written incident reports, "the only thing they could use it for would be something to fire me with." CR 149.

#### V. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

This Court should accept review consistent with RAP 13.4(b) because the opinion is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court and another Court of Appeals, and involves an issue of substantial public interest.

# A. Employees fired for insubordination do not get unemployment benefits.

٠.

If an employee is fired for insubordination, the employee does not get unemployment benefits. See RCW 50.20.066 (1) (disqualified from benefits if discharged for misconduct); RCW 50.04.294(2)(a) (insubordination is misconduct). This Court reviews de novo any errors of law and applications of the wrong legal standard. Henson v. Employment Sec. Dep't, 113 Wn.2d 374, 377, 779 P.2d 715 (1989).

# B. This Court should articulate the test for when an employer's instruction at work reasonable.

The appellate court unknowingly made a new finding or conclusion that the employer's instruction was not reasonable. It erroneously stated that the lower tribunal found the instruction was unreasonable, and it affirmed because there was substantial evidence to support the finding. Unfortunately, this error was not corrected on reconsideration.

The decision will be cited in the future as creating a new standard for when the record supports a finding that the employer's instruction was unreasonable. Not only will that standard be impractical for employers to ever prove insubordination, it is also in in tension with the department's own view on when an employer's instruction is reasonable.

The department has held in a significant decision, "It is common knowledge that an employer has a broad prerogative to assign its workers as it sees fit, excepting of course assignments which may be unlawful, or injurious to the health, safety or morals of the employees." *In re Leroy v. Harvey*, Empl. Sec. Comm'r Dec.2d 601, 1980 WL 344279 (WA) (1980) (discussing insubordination).

The department's view makes common sense and is supported by common law. The common law requires an agent to comply with all lawful instructions. Restatement (Third) of Agency, § 8.09. An agent also has the duty to refrain from conduct likely to damage the principal's enterprise. Restatement (Third) of Agency, § 8.10. One specific duty is to provide information, especially when asked for it. *See* Restatement (Third) of Agency, § 8.11.

The appellate court's published decision, however, creates a new test. All of the reasons the court provides are from the employee's perspective of why the task was hard, not from the employer's perspective about why it needed to ask her to perform a task that was hard. Slip Opinion at 17 \quad \quad 27, 30. The appellate court wrote that Thomas was being asked to write an incident report a second time and without access to her prior writings. Slip Opinion at ¶30. However, the employer had a business reason to ask it of her. The employer did not have her prior incident reports, CR 278 (FOF 16); see also CR 95-96, and believed the reports did not exist. The only way the employer assumed it could get the information was to ask her for it. The court wrote that she was being asked to write it before meeting with Squire. Slip Opinion at ¶30. This finding should not make a difference. If the employer wants her report in writing instead of orally and has a legitimate business interest to ask for it in that form, then the employee is reasonably required to provide it in that form. The implicit test as will be gleaned from the published decision is employee-centric and invites litigation. Prospectively, employees may use the opinion as a playbook that discourages employee productivity and requires an employer to prove they have designed an unimpeachable business plan if they want to fire an employee for insubordination.

This Court should articulate a test that reflects an employer's prerogative. The test cannot and should not be failed if an employee simply feels there is a better way to accomplish the task and an ALJ feels the employer didn't prove it

instructed the employee in the best way. The test must reflect that managers are accountable to the organization for their direction and control of employees, and that employers are accountable to shareholders, regulators, and the courts when they lack control.

٠.

In the context of termination for violating a workplace rule, a department regulation provides that a "company rule is reasonable if it is related to your job duties, is a normal business requirement or practice for your occupation or industry ...." WAC 192-150-210(4). In the context of a specific instruction to a particular employee, the law should be similarly framed: an employer's instruction to an employee is reasonable if it is related to a legitimate business need and is not in violation of a collective bargaining agreement or other law. This Court should articulate a legal standard for the parties to understand and the department to apply.

#### C. The decision derogates the agent's burden of proving justification.

The employer argued that the tribunal applied the wrong legal burdens of proof. The Restatement (Second) of Agency § 381 (1958) imposes the general duty to use "reasonable efforts to give his principal information which is relevant to affairs entrusted to him", which "the principal would desire to have." *See Cogan v. Kidder*, 97 Wn.2d 658, 663 (1982). In this case, the employer specifically asked for the information, so the duty is more specific.

Under the common law, an agent bears the burden of proving that his or her refusal to follow the instructions of the principal is justified. One authority states the black-letter law:

Insofar as the agent is invested with discretionary powers the agent is required to act only according to the best of his or her judgment for the interest of the principal, and in the absence of negligence or bad faith the agent will not be liable. However, if the instructions are direct and positive, the agent has no discretion, and the agent's motives in departing therefrom are not material. It will

not affect the agent's liability that the agent departed from instructions in good faith for what the agent's [sic] believed to be the advantage of the principal.

(3 C.J.S. Agency 551, § 272 (emphasis added) (footnotes omitted)). "Generally, an agent is required to adhere faithfully to the instructions of the principal, regardless of the agent's own opinion as to the propriety or expediency thereof." (3 C.J.S. Agency 550-51§ 272) (citing, *inter alia*, *Cultum v. Heritage House Realtors, Inc.*, 103 Wn.2d 623, 632 (1985)). The tribunal and appellate court erred by creating an employee-centric test and by not requiring Thomas to prove her refusal was justified.

# D. Insubordination is an example of misconduct that does not require proof of extra awareness of harming the employer's interest.

The published decision holds that the employer must prove, not only purposeful insubordination, but also proof that the employee was aware that she was disregarding the employer's rights. Slip Opinion at 18 ¶27 (official reporter headnote 7). Implicitly, telling the employee to do an act is insufficient to put the employee on notice that the action is in the employer's interest. It is illogical for the law to require proof that the employee knew how the employer was being harmed when proof of an employee's intent to harm the employer is not required. This extra requirement of proof that the employee knew how the employer was being harmed (in addition to refusing a reasonable order) is new law, and contrary to the statute and public policy.

Conduct that disqualifies one from unemployment benefits is "misconduct" defined by RCW 50.04.294 (copy of which is at Appendix C). Sub-section one defines it to include, "Wilful or wanton disregard of the rights, title, and interests of the employer or fellow employees." RCW 50.04.294(1)(a). Sub-section two lists examples of conduct that meets the "willful or wanton" definition. "Insubordination showing a deliberate, willful, or purposeful refusal to follow the

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