RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jul 03, 2014, 11:49 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 90287-9

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JEFF KIRBY, an individual, AND PUGET SOUND SECURITY PATROL, INC.,

Appellant-Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JEREMY GELMS WSBA # 45646 Assistant Attorney General Attorneys for Respondent OID #91020 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 Phone: (206) 464-7676

Fax: (206) 389-2800

E-mail: LALSeaEF@atg.wa.gov

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Court will grant review only if the Employer demonstrates one or more of the four exclusive criteria enumerated in RAP 13.4(b):

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The Employer seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4). However, the Employer's petition fails to cite a single case interpreting the Employment Security Act with which the Court of Appeals decision conflicts and fails to address any issues of substantial public interest. Instead, the Employer simply reiterates its disagreement with the court's opinion, which was based largely on a sufficiency of the evidence review. This is insufficient to justify review under RAP 13.4(b).

In any event, the Court of Appeals correctly applied the Act and established case law, holding the claimant's conduct was not willful when she was legitimately confused based on the Employer's miscommunication and that the Employer failed to prove its order was reasonable under the particular circumstances. Because the Employer has not established grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b), this Court should deny review.

A. The Court of Appeals Decision is Consistent with Established Precedent and Properly Concluded Ms. Thomas Was Not Discharged for Misconduct

The Employer asks the Court to accept review "because the [Court of Appeals] opinion is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court and another Court of Appeals." Pet. for Review at 8. However, the

Employer does not cite a single appellate case with which the Court of Appeals decision conflicts. The Employer simply repeats its challenge to the Commissioner's findings of facts and the ultimate conclusion that it failed to prove Ms. Thomas was discharged for misconduct. Nonetheless, the Court should decline review because the Commissioner's decision—and the Court of Appeals opinion affirming that decision—are in line with Washington case law.

The purpose of the Employment Security Act ("Act") is to provide compensation to individuals unemployed through no fault of their own. *Tapper*, 122 Wn.2d at 407–08. Accordingly, the Act must be liberally construed in favor of granting benefits to unemployed claimants. RCW 50.01.010; *Tapper*, 122 Wn.2d at 407–08.

A discharged claimant is entitled to unemployment benefits unless the employer proves the claimant was fired for work-connected misconduct as defined in the Act. RCW 50.20.066(1); WAC 192-150-200(1). Misconduct includes the following:

- (a) Willful or wanton disregard of the rights, title, and interests of the employer or a fellow employee;
- (b) Deliberate violations or disregard of standards of behavior which the employer has the right to expect of an employee;
- (c) Carelessness or negligence that causes or would likely cause serious bodily harm to the employer or a fellow employee; or

(d) Carelessness or negligence of such degree or recurrence to show an intentional or substantial disregard of the employer's interest.

RCW 50.04.294(1). The Act provides specific examples of behavior that constitute misconduct. RCW 50.04.294(2). The Employer unsuccessfully argued one of these grounds below: that Ms. Thomas committed "[i]nsubordination showing a *deliberate*, *willful*, or *purposeful* refusal to follow the *reasonable* directions or instructions of the employer." RCW 50.04.294(2)(a) (emphasis added).

Misconduct does not include "(a) Inefficiency, unsatisfactory conduct, or failure to perform well as the result of inability or incapacity; (b) Inadvertence or ordinary negligence in isolated instances; or (c) Good faith errors in judgment or discretion." RCW 50.04.294(3); *Macey v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 110 Wn.2d 308, 318, 752 P.2d 372 (1988).

1. Consistent with Washington case law, the Court of Appeals properly concluded the Employer failed to establish Ms. Thomas acted willfully where her actions resulted from a gap in communication attributable to the Employer.

The Court of Appeals properly held that Ms. Thomas's refusal to write another report was not willful because she was confused about what she was being asked to do. *Kirby*, __ Wn. App. __, 320 P.3d at 129. A finding of misconduct requires that a claimant's action be willful or wanton. RCW 50.04.294(1)(a); WAC 192-150-205(1). An employer who

discharges an employee for insubordination must also prove the employee engaged in a "deliberate, willful, or purposeful" refusal. RCW 50.04.294(2)(a). The Department has defined the term "willful" as "intentional behavior done deliberately or knowingly, where you are aware that you are violating or disregarding the rights of your employer or a co-worker." WAC 192-150-205(1) (emphasis added). "Wanton' means malicious behavior showing extreme indifference to a risk, injury, or harm to another that is known or should have been known to you. . . "WAC 192-150-205(2).

The Court of Appeals appropriately followed Washington precedent and recognized that an employee acts with willful disregard "when the employee '(1) is aware of his employer's interest; (2) knows or should know that certain conduct jeopardizes that interest; but (3) nonetheless intentionally performs the act, willfully disregarding its consequences." *Kirby*, __ Wn. App. __, 320 P.3d at 127 (citing *Hamel v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 93 Wn. App. 140, 146-47, 966 P.2d 1282 (1998)). Therefore, "a showing of misconduct must be established by evidence that the employee was aware that he or she was disregarding the employer's rights." *Kirby*, __ Wn. App. __, 320 P.3d at 129.

Here, the Court of Appeals properly reviewed the Commissioner's decision in light of the whole record and found substantial evidence to

support the finding that "the parties did not have the same understanding of what the claimant was being asked to do." *Id.* (quoting ALJ's Initial Order). Ms. Thomas was legitimately confused by a breakdown in communication, which the Commissioner found was attributable to the Employer. *Id.* Ms. Thomas's supervisor had not been properly forwarding incident reports to the Employer's main office as required by company policy. As a result, the CEO believed he was asking Ms. Thomas for the first written documentation of her allegations. *Id.* On the other hand, Ms. Thomas did not know the CEO was unaware of her earlier written documentation or that he believed she was refusing to submit a report at all. *Id.*

The court acknowledged "the facts do not establish that she was aware that she disregarding the rights and interests of her employer" and a finding of misconduct was not appropriate because "she did not intentionally jeopardize those interests by refusing to write the report." *Id.* The Commissioner thus correctly concluded Ms. Thomas was not fired for misconduct, and was eligible for benefits.

The Employer contends that the Court of Appeals decision creates a confusion defense to insubordination, and will embolden employees in the future to disregard employer directives. Pet. for Review at 12-13. The Employer overstates the future application of the court's decision. The

Court of Appeals did not articulate a new standard for misconduct, but rather issued a fact-specific ruling giving appropriate deference to the Commissioner on witness credibility and the weight given to the evidence.

Kirby, __ Wn. App. __, 320 P.3d at 127-28. The court stated:

Because [Ms. Thomas] had already documented the incident and submitted the logs and reports to her immediate supervisor when it occurred and the thefts had been resolved, Thomas's refusal to write another one on the spot cannot be viewed as an intent to disregard her employer's interest in having the report written. While [the Employer] is correct that subjective motivations and intent to harm the employer are irrelevant, a showing of misconduct must be established by evidence that the employee was aware that he or she was disregarding the employer's rights.

Id. at 129. This is consistent with the definition of misconduct under the Act and the case law interpreting it. The Employer's actions created confusion and prevented Ms. Thomas from understanding what she was being asked to do. Under these specific facts, the court appropriately determined Ms. Thomas's "failure to give more of an explanation or to attempt to write something down" was more properly characterized as a good faith error in judgment. Id. at 128.

The Employer asks this Court to create new law, by inserting common law employment principles into the analysis of the Act and asserting Ms. Thomas committed misconduct because she breached her "duty of loyalty." Pet. for Review at 15-16. However, the issue before the

Court of Appeals was not the validity or invalidity of Ms. Thomas's employment termination; it was her unemployment benefit eligibility under Title 50 RCW. *Johnson v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 64 Wn. App. 311, 314–15, 824 P.2d 505 (1992); *Tapper*, 122 Wn. 2d at 412 (noting that an employer's decision to discharge an employee is distinct from the Department's decision to grant or deny unemployment benefits). The Act does not impose a "duty of loyalty" on claimants to be eligible for unemployment benefits. Even assuming Ms. Thomas's actions breached her duty of loyalty under common law employment principles, it would only mean her actions were possible grounds for *termination*. It provides no guidance on whether Ms. Thomas is eligible for unemployment benefits under the Act.

The Employer further argues the "tribunal and appellate court erred by not requiring Thomas to prove her refusal was justified." Pet. for Review at 11-12. The Employer's attempt to shift the burden to the claimant is also unfounded because the Act contains no burden-shifting provision. Without question, the Act and case law establish that it is the employer's burden to prove the discharge was the result of misconduct on the part of the employee. RCW 50.20.066; *Nelson v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 98 Wn.2d 370, 374–75, 655 P.2d 242 (1982) (employer must establish

misconduct connected with one's work by a preponderance of the evidence).

Consistent with established case law, the Court of Appeals properly determined Ms. Thomas's actions were the result of confusion attributable to the Employer's lack of communication among management. Under these particular facts, the claimant's actions were properly characterized as a good faith error in judgment, which is specifically excluded from the definition of statutory misconduct. *Kirby*, ___ Wn. App. ___, 320 P.3d at 130; RCW 50.04.294(3)(c). Further review is unwarranted.

2. The Court of Appeals correctly held the Employer failed to prove its order was reasonable under the circumstances.

The Court of Appeals also properly determined the Employer failed to carry its burden of proving its request to write another report was reasonable under the circumstances. "[E]ven if [the Employer] could show Ms. Thomas's refusal to write the report was an intentional and willful refusal," the Employer still failed to establish "that the order to write the incident report was reasonable." *Kirby*, __ Wn. App. __, 320 P.3d at 129. Under the plain language of the Act, a claimant commits insubordination only if an employer proves the claimant deliberately,

willfully, or purposefully refused to follow the *reasonable* directions of the employer. RCW 50.04.294(2)(a) (emphasis added).

The Employer suggests the Court of Appeals created a new standard for reasonableness and erroneously made a new finding that the employer's instruction was unreasonable. Pet. for Review at 4-5, 9-11. This is not the case. Rather, the court evaluated the unchallenged factual findings:

[Ms. Thomas] had already submitted reports on the incident that were prepared at the time it occurred, which were more accurate and should have been forwarded to her supervisors. But she was now being required to write another report without any context or guidance about what the report should contain, and without the benefit of first reviewing reports she already made at the time of the incident to ensure she was giving accurate information and sufficient detail. She was also required to do so after first being told that she would be meeting with a supervisor about the report and then told she could not meet with that supervisor before writing the report.

Id. at 130. Based on these unchallenged findings, the court held they supported the Commissioner's conclusion that "when viewed in context, the CEO's request for Thomas to immediately write an incident report on the spot was not reasonable." Kirby, ___ Wn. App. ___, 320 P.3d at 129. In doing so, the Court of Appeals did not make a new finding that the instruction was unreasonable but rather block-quoted the ALJ's entire reasonableness conclusion of law. See Id.

While the Employer disagrees with the court's conclusion that it failed to prove its request was objectively reasonable, mere disagreement with the court is not grounds for review. The standard proposed by the Employer for the Court to adopt "a test that reflects an employer's prerogative," Pet. for Review at 4-5, 9-11, would undermine the Act's purpose and run counter to the mandate of liberal construction in favor of granting unemployment benefits.

The Employer has not demonstrated that the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with a previous appellate decision. Thus, the Court should deny the Petition for Discretionary Review.

B. This Case Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined by the Supreme Court

The Employer also asserts its petition for review involves an issue of substantial public interest. Pet. for Review at 8. But again, the Employer fails to cite or articulate any issue of substantial public interest. Nor does the Employer explain why any issues that may be implicated in this appeal rise to the level that they "should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4).

In determining whether an issue involves a sufficient public interest meriting review, the Court considers the public or private nature of the question, the need for future guidance provided by an authoritative determination, and the likelihood of recurrence. See Eide v. Dep't of Licensing, 101 Wn. App. 218, 210-11, 3 P.3d 208 (2000) (describing public interest factors in analogous RAP 2.3(d) standard). Because the Court of Appeals decision follows established precedent, is fact-specific in nature, and prior case law provides sufficient guidance for any issues raised in this appeal, there is no substantial public interest that must be determined by this Court. Thus, further review is unwarranted.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with prior case law and raises no issue justifying review by this Court. The Department respectfully asks the Court to deny review.